
**Agenda subject to change 

Franklin City Council Agenda 
December 9, 2024  
Council Chambers 

207 West Second Avenue 
Franklin, Virginia 23851 

 
7:00 P.M.  

Regular Meeting 

CALL TO ORDER. . . . . .  .  MAYOR ROBERT L. CUTCHINS 
PLEASE TURN OFF CELL PHONES. . . .   MAYOR ROBERT L. CUTCHINS 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
CITIZEN’S TIME  (3 MINUTES) 
AMENDMENTS TO/APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

 

1. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Approval of November 25, 2024 Work Session Meeting Minutes 
B. Approval of November 25, 2024 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 

 
2. PUBLIC HEARING 

Issuance, Sale, and Award of a General Obligation Note, Series 2024  
 

3. OLD/NEW BUSINESS 
Council Comments 
 

4. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
A. Ordinance to Provide Personal Property Tax Exemption for Qualified Volunteer Firefighters and 

Emergency Medical Services Personnel 
B. Resolution Providing for the Issuance, Sale, and Award of a General Obligation Note, Series 2024 of 

the City of Franklin, Virginia 
C. Resolution Amending the FY 2024-2025 City Operating Budget to Accept and Appropriate the 

Amount of $10,000 Received as a Donation from the Franklin Southampton Charities for Use by the 
Franklin Fire Department and the Hunterdale Volunteer Fire Department 

D. Resolution Amending the FY 2024-2025 City Operating Budget to Accept Grant Revenue in the 
Amount of $276.38 from the Carl D. Perkins Career And Technical Education Act, and Appropriate 
Said Amount for Use by the Franklin City Public School in its FY 2024-2025 Operating Budget 

E. Resolution Amending the FY 2024-2025 City Operating Budget to Accept Grant Revenue in the 
Amount of $50,000 from the Wallace Foundation, and Appropriate Said Amount for Use by the 
Franklin City Public School in its FY 2024-2025 Operating Budget 

F. Resolution Amending the Franklin City Employee Emergency Fund 
G. Resolution Honoring the Life and Legacy of Bishop Stephen D. Willis, Sr. 

 
5. COUNCIL/STAFF REPORTS ON BOARDS/COMMISSIONS 

 
6. ADJOURNMENT 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

City Council Work Session Meeting Minutes November 25, 2024 

Call to order 

The Franklin City Council held a Work Session Meeting on November 25, 2024 at 6:00 P.M. in the City 
Council Chambers located at 207 West Second Avenue, Franklin, Virginia 23851.  

Council Members in Attendance: Robert “Bobby” Cutchins, Mayor; Wynndolyn Copeland, Vice-Mayor; 
Councilman Linwood Johnson (6:11 PM); Councilman Mark Kitchen; Councilwoman Jessica Banks; 
Councilman Gregory McLemore 

Council Members Absent:  Councilman Ray Smith 

Presentation: RFP Results & Capital Planning Update  

Mr. Kyle Laux, Senior Vice-President of Davenport & Company, presented the following information. 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

 

No further action at this time.  

Presentation: Approval Request for VMEA Battery Energy Storage System Agreement  

Mr. Chris Dawson, Consultant with GDS Associates, Inc. presented the following information. 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

 

There was discussion about costs to the city, option of the city producing battery storage on its own, the 
benefits, and consideration of renewable energy. 

Discussion: Property Tax Exemption for Fire & EMS 

There was a brief discussion in reference to property tax exemption for fire and ems personnel and the 
Mayor asked for this matter to come back before the council at the next meeting for consideration. 



 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

No further action at this time.  

Adjournment 

Councilwoman Banks made a motion to adjourn with a second from Councilman Kitchen.  

The motion carried the vote 6-0 

The vote was as follows:  

Ayes:  Cutchins, Copeland, Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, McLemore 

Nays:   

Absent:  Smith 

Mayor Bobby Cutchins stated the meeting stands adjourned.   

   
Mayor  Deputy Clerk to City Council  

  



 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes November 25, 2024  

Call to order 

The Franklin City Council held its regular City Council meeting on November 25, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. in 
the City Council Chambers. 

Council Members in Attendance: Robert “Bobby” Cutchins, Mayor; Wynndolyn Copeland, Vice-Mayor; 
Councilman Gregory McLemore;  Councilman Mark Kitchen; Councilman Linwood Johnson; 
Councilwoman Jessica Banks. 

Council Members not in Attendance: Councilman Ray Smith 

Staff in Attendance: Rosylen Oglesby, City Manager, Kyle Eldridge, City Attorney 

Citizen’s Time 

Ms. Carolyn Lawrence of 773 Oak Street, Franklin, VA, addressed Council about being 
harassed by the school system. 

Amendments to Agenda 

A motion was made by Councilman Johnson and seconded by Vice-Mayor Copeland to approve the 
agenda. 

The motion carried the vote 6-0. 

The vote as follows: 

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 

Absent:  Smith 

Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of October 28, 2024 regular meeting minutes.  

Mayor Robert Cutchins asked if there were any corrections or additions for the October 28, 2024 
minutes.  

None were heard. 

A motion was made by Councilman Kitchen and seconded by Vice-Mayor Copeland to approve the 
minutes of October 28, 2024. 

The motion carried the vote 6-0 

The vote was as follows:  

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 



2 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

Old/New Business  

A. Council Comments 

Councilman Johnson thanked the City Manager and her staff for the work they are doing in moving the 
city forward and made comments in reference to the legislative issues on the agenda. 

Councilman Kitchen made comments in reference to the work the City Manager is doing and 
congratulated all who won council seats and the new mayor.  

Councilwoman Banks congratulated all as well. 

Vice-Mayor Copeland made comments in reference to the home going celebration for the late Bishop 
Stephen Willis and a resolution she asked the City Manager to prepare. 

Councilman Kitchen made further comments congratulating Vice-Mayor Copeland on her promotion to 
Program Manager at the Department of Corrections. 

Councilman Gregory McLemore made comments in reference to addressing the issue brought forth by 
Ms. Carolyn Lawrence tonight. 

There was discussion in reference to Council members talking to their representative on the School 
Board and then have a closed session to further discuss. 

Mayor Bobby Cutchins made comments congratulating all the newly elected members and wished them 
the best. 

City Manager’s Report 

A. Resolution Endorsing the City’s 2025 General Assembly Legislative Package 

City Manager presented the following Resolution for adoption. 



3 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

 



4 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

 



5 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

 

 

A motion was made by Vice-Mayor Copeland and seconded by Councilwoman Banks to adopt the 
Resolution Endorsing the City’s 2025 General Assembly Legislative Package. Discussion:  Councilman 
Johnson stated that he liked the resolution as it was presented and it will help the city as well as the 
citizens. 

The motion carried the vote 6-0 

The vote was as follows:  

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 

Absent:  Smith 



6 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

B. Small Business Saturday Proclamation #2024-21 

Councilman McLemore read the following proclamation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A motion was made by Vice-Mayor Copeland and seconded by Councilman Johnson to approve the 
Small Business Saturday Proclamation #2024-21. 

The motion carried the vote 6-0 

The vote was as follows:  

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 

Absent:  Smith 



7 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES | November 25, 2024 

The proclamation was presented to Mr. Karl Heck, President & CEO of Franklin Southampton 
Economic Development, Inc., by Mayor Cutchins. Mr. Heck thanked the Council for their support. 

Council/Staff Reports on Boards/Commissions 

Councilman Johnson provided a report in reference to the Western Tidewater Regional Jail Authority 
youth facility and options to save funds. 

A. Council Appointment: DSS Advisory Board 

A motion was made by Councilman Kitchen and seconded by Councilman Johnson to appoint Mr. 
Kenny Bergin to the Social Services Advisory Board. 

The motion carried with a vote: 6-0 

The vote was as follows: 

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 

Absent:  Smith 

A motion was made by Councilman McLemore and seconded by Councilman Kitchen for him to fill the 
vacancy once Councilman Kitchen’s term expires on this Board. 

The motion carried with a vote 6-0 

The vote was as follows:  

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 

Absent:  Smith 

Adjournment  

A motion was made by Councilman Johnson and seconded by Vice-Mayor Copeland to adjourn the 
November 25, 2024 City Council Meeting at 7:22 p.m.  

The motion carried the vote 6-0 

The vote was as follows:  

Ayes:  Johnson, Kitchen, Banks, Copeland, Cutchins, McLemore 

Absent:  Smith 

Mayor Bobby Cutchins stated the meeting stands adjourned.  

 

 

               
Mayor        Deputy Clerk to City Council 



RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND AWARD OF A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION NOTE, SERIES 2024 OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, 

VIRGINIA AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS AND PAYMENT 
THEREOF 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council (the “City Council”) of the City of Franklin, Virginia (the 

“City”) wishes to provide interim financing for the construction, renovation and improvement of 
City courts facilities, City and community facilities at the former National Guard armory facility 
and a City public safety radio system project, along with other capital needs of the City (the 
“Projects”) and to pay the costs of issuance therefor; and 

WHEREAS, Davenport & Company LLC, the City's financial advisor (the “Financial 
Advisor”), as directed by City staff, and its bond counsel, Sands Anderson PC, have prepared a 
Request for Proposals (the “RFP”) to obtain financing proposals for the interim financing of the 
Projects; 

WHEREAS, the Financial Advisor has received responses to the RFP that reflect attractive 
terms for the financing of the Projects and after reviewing the responses has recommended that 
the City Council select the proposal to purchase the City’s maximum aggregate principal amount 
not to exceed $8,300,000 General Obligation Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024 (the “Note”) 
to finance the Projects in accordance with the proposal dated October 3, 2024 (the “Proposal”) 
from Webster Bank, National Association (the “Lender”) whose approval shall be evidenced 
conclusively by the execution and delivery of such Proposal, and the City Council desires to accept 
such Proposal and proceed with the financing reflected therein; 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing, duly noticed, on December 9, 2024 
on the issuance of up to $8,300,000 general obligation notes or bonds of the City in accordance 
with Section 15.2-2606 of the Public Finance Act of 1991 (the “Act”) of the Code of Virginia of 
1950, as amended; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FRANKLIN: 

1. Issuance of Note.  Pursuant to the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth 
of Virginia, including the Act, the City Council hereby authorizes the issuance and sale of 
general obligation notes or bonds of the City to provide funds for interim financing for the 
Projects, and to pay related issuance and financing costs incurred in connection with issuing 
such Note.  The City elects to issue the Note pursuant to the Act without regard to any separate 
requirements of the City Charter. 

2. Note Details.  The Note shall be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to 
exceed $8,300,000 consisting of a single, registered bond or note designated “General 
Obligation Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024” numbered N-1, bearing an interest rate not to 
exceed 3.60% per annum, and maturing no later than December 31, 2027.  Subject to the 
preceding terms, the City Council further authorizes the Financial Advisor to determine the 
aggregate total of principal and interest payments on the Note, establish an amortization 
schedule for the Note, all in accordance with the provisions hereof. 



2 

3. Payment and Redemption Provisions.  The principal of and premium, if any, and 
interest on the Note shall be payable as set forth in the Note.  The principal of the Note shall be 
subject to optional prepayment or redemption, in whole or in part, by the City, as set forth in the 
Proposal, provided, that the Note may be prepaid, in whole only, at any time after October 31, 
2026 with no prepayment penalty. 

4. Execution and Form of Note.  The Note shall be substantially in the form of 
Exhibit A attached hereto, shall be signed by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City and the City’s 
seal shall be affixed thereon and attested by the City Clerk.  The Note shall be issued as a 
typewritten bond or note with such completions, omissions, insertions and changes not 
inconsistent with this Resolution as may be approved by such officers, whose approval shall be 
evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of the Note. 

5. Pledge of Full Faith and Credit.  The City’s full faith and credit are pledged to 
secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Note.  Unless other 
funds are lawfully available and appropriated for timely payment of the Note, the City agrees to 
levy and collect an annual tax upon all property subject to local taxation in the City sufficient to 
pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Note. 

6. Preparation of Printed Note.  The City shall initially issue the Note in typewritten 
form.  Upon request of the registered owner and upon presentation of the Note at the office of 
the Registrar (as hereinafter defined), the City shall arrange to have prepared, executed and 
delivered in exchange as soon as practicable the Note in printed form in an aggregate principal 
amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Note in typewritten form, in denominations of 
$5,000 and multiples thereof (except that one Note may be issued in an odd denomination of 
not less than $5,000), of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested 
by the registered owners or their duly authorized attorneys or legal representatives.  The printed 
Note may be executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City, 
the City’s seal affixed thereto and attested by the City Clerk; provided, however, that if both 
such signatures are facsimiles, no Note shall be valid until it has been authenticated by the 
manual signature of the Registrar and the date of authentication noted thereon.  The typewritten 
Note surrendered in any such exchange shall be canceled. 

7. Registration and Transfer of the Note.  The City appoints the City Treasurer as 
paying agent and registrar (the “Registrar”) for the Note.  Upon surrender of the Note at the 
office of the Registrar, together with an assignment duly executed by the registered owner or its 
duly authorized attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be satisfactory to the 
Registrar, the City shall execute, and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange, a 
new Note or Notes having an equal aggregate principal amount, of the same form and maturity, 
bearing interest at the same rates and registered in such name as requested by the then registered 
owner or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  Any such exchange shall be at the 
expense of the City, except that the Registrar may charge the person requesting such exchange 
the amount of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect thereto. 

The Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person or entity exclusively entitled to 
payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest, and the exercise of all other rights and 
powers of the owner, except that installments shall be paid to the person or entity shown as 



3 

owner on the registration books on the 1st day of the month on which an interest payment date 
occurs. 

8. Mutilated, Lost or Destroyed Note.  If the Note has been mutilated, lost or 
destroyed, the City shall execute and deliver a new Note of like date and tenor in exchange and 
substitution for, and upon cancellation of, such mutilated Note or in lieu of and in substitution 
for such lost or destroyed Note; provided, however, that the City shall so execute and deliver 
only if the registered owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the City in 
connection therewith and, in the case of a lost or destroyed Note, (a) has filed with the City 
evidence satisfactory to the City that such Note was lost or destroyed and (b) has furnished to 
the City satisfactory indemnity. 

9. Arbitrage Covenants.  The City covenants that it shall not take or omit to take any 
action the taking or omission of which will cause the Note to be “arbitrage bonds” within the 
meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations 
issued pursuant thereto (the “Code”), or otherwise cause interest on the Note to be includable 
in the gross income for Federal income tax purposes of the registered owner thereof under 
existing law.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City shall comply with any 
provision of the Tax Compliance Agreement (as defined below) that may require the City at any 
time to rebate to the United States any part of the earnings derived from the investment of the 
gross proceeds of the Note, unless the City receives an opinion of nationally recognized bond 
counsel that such compliance is not required to prevent interest on the Note from being included 
in the gross income for federal income tax purposes of the registered owners thereof under 
existing law.  The City shall pay any such required rebate from legally available funds. 

10. Tax Compliance Agreement.  Such officers of the City as may be requested by 
the City’s bond counsel are authorized and directed to execute and deliver a nonarbitrage 
certificate and tax compliance agreement in relation to the Note (the “Tax Compliance 
Agreement”) in the form approved by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City or the City 
Manager, or any of them, in collaboration with the City’s bond counsel, with such completions, 
omissions, insertions and changes as may be approved by the officers of the City executing such 
Tax Compliance Agreement, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution 
and delivery thereof. 

11. Private Activity Bond Covenant.  The City covenants that it shall not permit the 
proceeds of the Note or the property financed thereby to be used in any manner that would result 
in (a) 5% or more of such proceeds or the facilities financed with such proceeds being used in a 
trade or business carried on by any person other than a governmental unit, as provided in Section 
141(b) of the Code, (b) 5% or more of such proceeds or the facilities financed with such proceeds 
being used with respect to any output facility (other than a facility for the furnishing of water), 
within the meaning of Section 141(b)(4) of the Code, or (c) 5% or more of such proceeds being 
used directly or indirectly to make or finance loans to any persons other than a governmental 
unit, as provided in Section 141(c) of the Code; provided, however, that if the City receives an 
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that any such covenants need not be complied 
with to prevent the interest on the Note from being includable in the gross income for federal 
income tax purposes of the registered owners thereof under existing law, the City need not 
comply with such covenants. 



4 

12. Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.  The City Council hereby designates the Note 
as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” as defined in Section 265(b)(3)(B) of the Code and 
certifies by this Resolution that it does not reasonably anticipate the issuance by it or its 
subordinate entities of more than $10 million in “qualified tax-exempt obligations” during the 
calendar year 2024 and will not designate, or permit the designation by any of its subordinate 
entities of, any of its bonds (or those of its subordinate entities) during the calendar year 2024 
which would cause the $10 million limitation of Section 265(b)(3)(D) of the Code to be violated. 

13. SNAP Investment Authorization.  The City Council has determined to authorize 
the City Treasurer, if and as necessary, to utilize SNAP in connection with the investment of the 
proceeds of the Note. 

14. Bond Counsel. The City Council hereby confirms the appointment of Sands 
Anderson PC to serve as Bond Counsel to the City in connection with the issuance of the Note.  

15. Other Actions.  All other actions of City officials in conformity with the purposes 
and intent of this Resolution and in furtherance of the issuance and sale of the Note and the 
interim financing of the Projects are ratified, approved and confirmed.  The City officials are 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver all agreements, certificates and other instruments 
considered necessary or desirable in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Note 
pursuant to this Resolution and the financing of the Projects including, but not limited to a loan 
agreement, note purchase agreement, escrow agreement and any other agreements. 

16.  Effectiveness and Filing of Resolution.  This Resolution shall become effective 
immediately upon its passage.  After such passage, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be 
filed by the Clerk with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County of Southampton, Virginia.  
The filing of this Resolution with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County of Southampton, 
Virginia shall be deemed to be the filing of an initial resolution or ordinance with such Court 
for all purposes of the Act.  Any ordinances or resolutions inconsistent herewith previously 
adopted by the City Council are amended to be consistent with this Resolution. 

*********** 



5 

 On motion of ____________, seconded by ____________, the foregoing Resolution was 
adopted at a regular meeting of City Council on December 9, 2024.  Members of the City Council 
voted as follows: 
 
 

YES NO 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
ABSTAINED ABSENT 
  

  
 
Adopted this 9th day of December, 2024. 
 
 The undersigned City Clerk of the City Council of the City of Franklin, Virginia, hereby 
certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of an Resolution adopted at a meeting 
of the City Council of the City of Franklin, held on December 9, 2024. I hereby further certify that 
such a meeting was a regular meeting, duly called and held, and that during the consideration of 
the foregoing Resolution, a quorum was present.  
 
 
 
     __________________________________ 
     City Clerk, City Council of the 
     City of Franklin, Virginia 



1 
 

CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA  
$8,300,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE 

SERIES 2024  
 

NOTE PURCHASE AND LOAN AGREEMENT 

December __, 2024 

City of Franklin, Virginia 
207 W. 2nd Avenue 
Franklin, Virginia 23851 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Webster Bank, National Association (the “Lender”) offers to enter into this agreement 
(this “Note Purchase and Loan Agreement”) with the City of Franklin, Virginia (the “City”), 
providing for the sale by the City and the purchase by the Lender of the City’s General Obligation 
Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024 in the principal amount of $8,300,000 (the “Note”).  
Acceptance of this offer shall be evidenced by the execution and delivery to the Lender of this 
Note Purchase and Loan Agreement by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of either of whom may act, on 
behalf of the City.  Upon such acceptance, this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement shall be in full 
force and effect in accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon the City and the Lender. 

1. Purpose of Financing and Security for Note.  The Note will be issued and secured under 
and pursuant to a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City (the “City Council”) on 
December 9, 2024 (the “Resolution”) and Chapter 26, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as 
amended (the “Act”), in order to provide, from proceeds of the Note, interim financing for the 
construction, renovation and improvement of City courts facilities, City and community facilities 
at the former National Guard armory facility and a City public safety radio system project, along 
with other capital needs of the City and related costs of issuance (the “Projects”) for the benefit 
of citizens of the City.  The Note shall be secured by the full faith and credit of the City.   

2. Purchase and Terms of The Note.  Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of 
the representations set forth herein, the Lender hereby agrees to loan monies to the City as 
evidenced by the Lender’s purchase of the Note from the City, and the City hereby agrees to sell 
to the Lender, the Note at the purchase price of 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Note (the “Purchase Price”).  The Note shall be as described in, and shall have the terms and 
conditions, including but not limited to the payment dates for interest, principal and redemption or 
prepayment provisions, set forth in the forms of Note attached as Exhibit A hereto and 
incorporated by this reference.  The principal of the Note shall bear interest at the rate of 3.60% 
per annum through the final maturity date of the Note, November 1, 2027.  The Note is being 
issued as a tax-exempt obligation under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”).  Interest on the Note shall be paid on the 1st day of each May and 
November, commencing May 1, 2025, through and including the final maturity date.  Principal 



2 
 

shall be due at as set forth in the Note and is subject to optional redemption as set forth below in 
Section 7 herein.  

3. Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City represents, warrants and agrees 
as follows: 

(a) the City is, and will be at Closing (as defined below), a municipal 
corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”) duly chartered by the 
General Assembly of the Commonwealth, with the power and authority (1) to issue, sell and 
deliver the Note to the Lender as provided herein and (2) to consummate all transactions 
contemplated by, and perform its obligations, under this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, the 
Note, the Resolution, and a Non-Arbitrage Certificate (the “Non-Arbitrage Certificate”) to be 
executed by the City. 

(b) as of the Closing, the City will have full power and authority to irrevocably 
pledge its full faith and credit to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 
the Note; 

(c) the adoption of the Resolution and the execution and delivery of this Note 
Purchase and Loan Agreement, the Note and the Non-Arbitrage Certificate (collectively, the 
“Documents”) and compliance with the provisions thereof, under the circumstances 
contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not (1) violate the Constitution or laws of the 
Commonwealth, including, without limitation, the charter of the City, as applicable, the Act or 
any other existing law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, or determination 
of any court, regulatory agency or other governmental unit by which the City is bound, or (2) 
conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any existing resolution, the 
Resolution, indenture of trust or mortgage, loan or credit agreement, or any other existing 
agreement or instrument to which the City is a party or by which the City may be bound; 

(d) The City has, and at the Closing Date will have, duly authorized all actions 
necessary or appropriate to be taken for the City to (1) enter into, execute and deliver this Note 
Purchase and Loan Agreement, (2) to issue, sell and secure the Note to the Lender as provided 
herein, and (3) to consummate and carry out the other transactions contemplated by the Resolution 
and this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement. 

(e) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in 
equity, before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, to the best knowledge of the 
City, threatened against the City, affecting the organization and existence of the City or the titles 
of its officers to their respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance 
or delivery of the Note or to pay the principal of and interest on the Note, or the pledge thereof, 
or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Note or this Note 
Purchase and Loan Agreement or contesting in any way the power of the City to issue the Note 
or to execute and deliver this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, nor, to the best knowledge of 
the City, is there any basis therefor. 

(f) No further consent, approval, authorization or order of any court or 
governmental agency or body not already obtained is required for the issuance, delivery or sale 



3 
 

of the Note or, as of the date hereof, the consummation of the other transactions effected or 
contemplated herein or hereby by the City. 

(g) The City is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable 
to it and is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, 
order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the 
City is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets are subject, which default 
would adversely affect the Note, and the execution and delivery by the City of the Note and the 
compliance with the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict with or result in the breach of 
or constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

(h) When delivered to and paid for by the Lender in accordance with the terms 
of this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, the Note will have been duly authorized, executed 
and issued. 

(i) No suit, action, proceeding or investigation is pending nor, to the knowledge 
of the City, threatened against or affecting any of the City’s properties, or against or affecting the 
City, before any court or governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or 
instrumentality which involves or would materially affect any of the transactions contemplated 
hereby or by the Documents, or which, if determined adversely, could have a material adverse 
effect on (i) the organization or existence of the City, (ii) the execution and delivery by the City 
of the Documents, (iii) the performance by the City of its obligations under the Documents, (iv) 
the validity or enforceability of the Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, (v) the 
title or authority of any City officials executing the Documents or other documents relating to the 
transactions contemplated thereby, (vi) any authority or proceeding relating to the execution and 
delivery of the Documents on behalf of the City. 

(j) the City hereby assures the Lender that no material deterioration exists in 
the financial condition of the City from that reported in fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

(k) The representations and agreements of the City herein will be true and 
correct in all material respects as of the Closing. 

 
4. Closing.  The delivery of the Note (the “Closing”) shall be at such place and time as may 

be agreed to by the City and the Lender (but in no event later than December __, 2024 unless 
otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties) (the “Closing Date”).  Upon delivery of the Note to 
the Lender, the Lender will cause payment to be made as directed by the City, in immediately 
available funds, the purchase price of the Note.  The purchase price of the Note will be applied by 
the City as set forth in a Closing Memorandum (the “Closing Memorandum”) prepared by the 
City's financial advisor, Davenport & Company LLC (the “Financial Advisor”) and approved by 
the City Manager, to pay certain costs of issuance of the Note and otherwise for payment of the 
costs of the Projects.  The Note shall be delivered on the Closing Date to the Richmond, Virginia, 
offices of Sands Anderson PC as bond counsel to the City (“Bond Counsel”) or such other place 
as to which the City and the Lender may agree in writing, and Bond Counsel shall forward the 
Note to the Lender.  



4 
 

5. Conditions to Closing.  The Lender’s obligations hereunder to purchase and pay for the 
Note shall be subject to the performance by the City of its obligations hereunder and by the City 
of its obligations under the applicable Documents at or prior to the Closing Date, and to the 
following additional conditions at the Closing Date:  

(a) Receipt by the Lender of the Note and this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement. 

(c) Receipt by the Lender of a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by 
the Mayor and the City Manager of the City, to the effect that (i) the 
representations and warranties of the City contained herein are true and 
correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as if made on the 
Closing Date, and (ii) the City has complied with all the agreements and 
satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied at or prior 
to the Closing Date. 

(d) Delivery to the Lender of an opinion of the City Attorney, dated the Closing 
Date, in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit B hereto.  

(e) Receipt by the Lender of the approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the 
Closing Date, subject to the usual qualifications, as to the validity and 
enforceability of the Note against the City and the tax-exempt status of 
interest thereon. 

The Lender reserves the right to waive any of the conditions to its obligations contained in 
this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement. 

If the City shall be unable to perform or fulfill the conditions to the Lender’s obligations 
hereunder, or if the Lender’s obligations hereunder shall be terminated for any reason permitted 
hereby, this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement shall terminate and neither the Lender nor the 
City shall be under further obligation hereunder. 

6. Fees and Expenses.  The City agrees to cause to be paid the fees and disbursements of the 
Financial Advisor, of Bond Counsel, and of the City Attorney and disbursements incurred in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Note to the Lender, in each case from the proceeds of 
the Note as set forth in the Closing Memorandum. 

7. Optional Redemption.   

 The Note may not be redeemed before November 1, 2026.  The Note is subject to redemption 
prior to its final maturity date, at the option of the City, in whole, on any payment date on or after 
November 1, 2026, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Bondholder, at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof, plus interest accrued to the redemption 
date. 
 

8. Representations of Lender.  The Lender represents and warrants that the purchase of the 
Note is for its individual account and not with a present view for distribution to other purchasers 
thereof; provided that the Lender intends to sell a 100% participation interest in the Note to an 



5 
 

affiliate on the date hereof at par.  The Lender is a national banking association authorized to do 
business in the Commonwealth.  The Lender represents and warrants that it is purchasing the Note 
at its sole risk based on its evaluation of the credit risks arising therefrom.   

9. Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given to the City or the Lender under 
this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement may be given by delivery of the same in writing (a) to the 
Franklin City Manager’s Office, 207 W. 2nd Avenue, Franklin, Virginia 23851 and (b) to the 
Lender, at Webster Bank, National Association, 360 Lexington Avenue, 5th Floor, New York, 
New York 10017 (Attn: Public Sector Finance).  Any party to this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement may designate additional or different addresses for notice or communications by notice 
given under this Section to the other party. 

10. Financial Statements.  The City shall furnish to the Lender, (a) annually during the term 
of the Note, with audited financial statements, including supporting schedules (the “Audit”) of 
the City as soon as available after the City’s acceptance thereof, but no later than 360 days after 
the end of the City’s fiscal year, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, and (b) 
such other financial information as the Lender may reasonably request.  Such Audit must be in a 
form and degree reasonably acceptable to the Lender and prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The requirement to provide the Audit to the Lender will be 
satisfied if and to the extent such information is electronically posted and publicly available on the 
City’s website or on the MSRB’s “EMMA” website, and the City provides electronic notice to the 
Lender with a link to such posting.  In the event that the Audit is not available within 360 days of 
fiscal year end, the City will furnish unaudited financial statements to the Lender in the manner 
described in this paragraph within such period, and will then supply the Audit immediately upon 
the availability thereof.  The electronic Audit or link may be sent to the following email address 
(or such other address as the Lender supplies to the City in writing):  
PublicFinance@WebsterBank.com. 

11. Miscellaneous.  This Note Purchase and Loan Agreement is made solely for the benefit of 
the City and the Lender (including their successors or assigns) and no other person shall acquire 
or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.  All the representations, warranties and agreements 
contained herein shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of (a) any 
investigations made by or on behalf of the Lender; (b) delivery of and payment for the Note 
hereunder; and (c) any termination of this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement.  Assignment and 
re-registration of the Note shall without further action be deemed to assign the Lender’s interest 
under this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement.  

12. Governing Law.  The construction and enforcement of this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, without regard for its 
conflicts of laws provisions. 

13. Execution in Counterparts.  This Note Purchase and Loan Agreement may be executed 
in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and 
the same instrument, and any of the parties hereto may execute this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement by signing any such counterpart. 



6 
 

14. Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall 
not affect any other provisions of this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, and this Note Purchase 
and Loan Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provisions had 
not been contained herein. 

 

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 
  



7 
 

Very truly yours, 

WEBSTER BANK, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION 
 
By:_______________________________ 
 
Title:  Managing Director 

Confirmed and Accepted 
as of the date first above written: 

CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA 
 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
 
 

  



8 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF THE NOTE 

 
  



9 
 

EXHIBIT B 

OPINION OF CITY ATTORNEY 

 



1 
 

 
No. N-1 $8,300,000.00 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, CITY OF FRANKLIN 
 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE 
SERIES 2024 

 
Registered Holder: Webster Bank, National Association Dated: December __, 2024 
  
Interest Rate:  3.60% Maturity Date: November 1, 2027 
  

Principal Sum: Eight Million Three Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars 
 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the City of Franklin, Virginia 
(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “City”), a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, for value received hereby promises to pay to the registered holder 
(named above), or its assigns or legal representative (the “Holder”), on the Maturity Date 
(specified above), the Principal Sum, subject to prior redemption as described herein, and to pay 
interest on the unpaid principal balance of this Note from the date hereof until payment of the 
entire principal, at the annual Interest Rate stated above, payable in installments as set forth on the 
attached Schedule.  

 
 Both principal of and interest on this Note are payable in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for public and private debts. 
 

Interest is payable on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 
 
 Both principal of and interest on this Note are payable in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for public and private debts. 
 

Upon a Determination of Taxability (as defined below), the interest rate on this Note shall 
be automatically adjusted to the Taxable Rate (as defined below) from the Date of Taxability (as 
defined below).  For purposes of this Note, the following terms have the following meanings: 

"Date of Taxability" means the earliest date as of which interest on this Note shall have 
been determined to be includable in the gross income of the Holder pursuant to a Determination 
of Taxability. 

"Determination of Taxability" means and shall be deemed to have occurred on the first to 
occur of the following: 

(i) on that date when the City files any statement, supplemental 
statement or other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event 
of Taxability shall have in fact occurred; 



2 
 

(ii) on the date when the Holder notifies the City that it has received a 
written opinion by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing on the 
subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that an Event of Taxability 
(as defined below) has occurred unless, within 180 days after receipt by the City of 
such notification from such Holder, the City shall deliver to the Holder (A) a ruling 
or determination letter issued to or on behalf of the City by the Commissioner or 
any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other governmental official 
exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) or (B) a 
written opinion by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing on the 
subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that, after taking into 
consideration such facts as form the basis for the opinion that an Event of Taxability 
has occurred, an Event of Taxability shall not have occurred; 

(iii) on the date when the City shall be advised in writing by the 
Commissioner or any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other 
government official or agent exercising the same or a substantially similar function 
from time to time) that, based upon filings by the City, or upon any review or audit 
of the City or upon any other ground whatsoever, an Event of Taxability shall have 
occurred; or 

(iv) on that date when the City shall receive notice from the Holder that 
the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government official or agency exercising 
the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) has assessed as 
includable in the gross income of such Holder the interest on this Note due to the 
occurrence of an Event of Taxability; 

provided, however, no Determination of Taxability shall occur under subparagraph (iii) or (iv) 
above unless the City have been afforded the opportunity, at the sole expense of the City, to contest 
any such assessment, and, further, no Determination of Taxability shall occur until such contest, 
if made, has been finally determined; provided further, however, that upon demand from the 
Holder, the City shall immediately reimburse such Holder for any payments such Holder shall be 
obligated to make as a result of the Determination of Taxability during any such contest. 

"Event of Taxability" means the taking of any action by the City, or the failure to take any 
action by the City, or the making by the City of any misrepresentation herein or in any certificate 
required to be given in connection with the issuance, sale or delivery of this Note which has the 
effect of causing interest paid or payable on this Note to become includable, in whole or in part, 
in the gross income of the Holder for federal income tax purposes. 

 "Taxable Rate" means the interest rate per annum that shall provide the Holder with the 
same after-tax yield that the Holder would have otherwise received had the Determination of 
Taxability not occurred, taking into account the increased taxable income of the Holder as a result 
of such Determination of Taxability.  The Holder shall provide the City with a written statement 
explaining the calculation of the taxable rate, which statement shall, in the absence of manifest 
error, be conclusive and binding on the City. 
 
 It is hereby certified, recited and declared that all acts, conditions and things required to 
have happened, to exist and to have been performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Note 



3 
 

do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and due time, form and manner as 
required by law; that this Note does not exceed any constitutional, statutory or charter limitation 
of indebtedness; and that provision has been made for the payment of the principal of, and interest 
on, this Note, as provided in the Resolution (as defined below). 
 
 This Note is in an original principal amount of $8,300,000, and is issued under, pursuant 
to and in compliance with the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including 
Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, the same being the Public 
Finance Act, the City Charter of the City and the Resolution duly adopted by the City Council on 
December 9, 2024 (the “Resolution”).  
 
 This Note is transferable only upon the registration books kept at the office of the City 
Treasurer as Registrar (the “Registrar”) by the registered Holder hereof, or by such Holder’s duly 
authorized attorney, to (i) an affiliate of the registered Holder or (ii) banks, insurance companies 
or other financial institutions or their affiliates, upon surrender of this Note (together with a written 
instrument of transfer, satisfactory in form to the Registrar, duly executed by the registered Holder 
or such Holder’s authorized attorney, which may be the form endorsed hereon) and subject to the 
limitations and upon payment of the charges, if any, as provided in the Resolution, and thereupon 
a new Note, in the aggregate principal amount and  of the same series, interest rate and maturity 
as this Note, shall be issued in exchange therefor.  The City and the Registrar shall deem and treat 
the person in whose name this Note is registered as the absolute registered owner Holder hereof 
for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal hereof and interest due 
hereon and for all other purposes whatsoever. Nothing in this Note shall limit the right of the 
registered Holder or its assignees to sell or assign participation interests herein to one or more 
entities listed in (i) or (ii) above. 
 
 This Note may not be redeemed before November 1, 2026.  This Note is subject to optional 
redemption prior to the Maturity Date, at the option of the City, in whole only, on any interest 
payment date on or after November 1, 2026, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Holder, at 
a redemption price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount hereof, plus interest accrued 
to the redemption date. 
 
 Notice of redemption shall be sent in writing by the Registrar to the registered Holder of 
this Note at such registered Holder’s address as it appears on the registration books, provided that 
failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not affect the validity of any proceedings 
for the redemption of this Note with respect to which no such failure has occurred. 



4 
 

 
THIS NOTE IS A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE CITY, THE PAYMENT OF 
WHICH THE CITY’S FULL FAITH AND CREDIT ARE IRREVOCABLY 
PLEDGED.  THE CITY COUNCIL IS AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED TO LEVY 
AND COLLECT, ANNUALLY AT THE SAME TIME AND IN THE SAME 
MANNER AS OTHER TAXES OF THE CITY ARE ASSESSED, LEVIED AND 
COLLECTED, A TAX UPON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY WITHIN THE CITY, 
OVER AND ABOVE ALL OTHER TAXES AUTHORIZED OR LIMITED BY 
LAW AND WITHOUT LIMITATION AS TO RATE OR AMOUNT, SUFFICIENT 
TO PAY WHEN DUE THE PRINCIPAL OF AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, AND 
INTEREST ON THIS NOTE, TO THE EXTENT OTHER FUNDS OF THE CITY 
ARE NOT LAWFULLY AVAILABLE AND APPROPRIATED FOR SUCH 
PURPOSE. 

 
Reference is hereby made to the Resolution and to all of the provisions thereof to which 

any Holder of this Note by his acceptance hereof hereby assents, for definitions of terms; the 
description of and nature and extent of the security for this Note; the conditions upon which the 
Resolution may be amended or supplemented without the consent of the Holder of this Note and 
upon which it may be amended only with the consent of the Holder of this Note affected thereby; 
the rights and remedies of the Holder hereof with respect hereto; the rights, duties and obligations 
of the City; the provisions discharging the Resolution as to this Note and for the other terms and 
provisions of the Resolution. 
  



5 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Franklin, Virginia, by its City Council has caused 
this Note to be signed by the Mayor and attested by the Clerk of said City, by their manual or 
facsimile signatures, and its seal to be impressed or imprinted hereon, and this Note to be dated as 
set forth above. 
 
 

______________________________________ 
      Mayor, City of Franklin, Virginia 

(SEAL) 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
City of Franklin, Virginia 
 
 
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

 
This Note is the Note described in the within-mentioned Resolution. 

 
REGISTRAR 

 
 
    By:  ____________________________________ 
             Treasurer, City of Franklin, Virginia 
 
DATE OF AUTHENTICATION: 
 
December __, 2024 
 
 
 



6 
 

[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 
 
 For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Please insert social security number or other tax identification number of assignee:   
 

[___________________] 
 

 Name and address of assignee, including zip code:  _____________________ 
________________________________________________________________ the within-
mentioned Note and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints _________________ attorney-
in-fact, to transfer the same on the registration books thereof maintained in the office of the within-
mentioned Registrar with the full power of substitution in the premises. 
 
DATED:  ___________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
NOTE:  The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name of the registered holder 
that is written on the face of the within Note in every particular, without alteration or enlargement 
or any change whatsoever. 
 
     Signature Guaranteed 
 
 
      ___________________________________________ 
     NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a member 

firm of the New York Stock Exchange or a commercial 
bank or trust company. 

  



7 
 

SCHEDULE 
 

 





Ordinance 2024-15 
 

 

An Ordinance to Provide Personal Property Tax Exemptions for Qualified Volunteer 
Firefighters and Emergency Medical Services Personnel 

THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA, ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Franklin, Virginia (the “Council”) recognizes the 
invaluable contributions of volunteer firefighters and emergency medical services personnel to the 
safety and welfare of the community and wishes to provide financial relief to those individuals in 
recognition of their service;  

WHEREAS, the Council, pursuant to Section 58.1-3506(A)(15) of the Code of Virginia, 
wishes to establish a separate classification for the purposes of levying personal property taxes on 
certain motor vehicles owned or leased by volunteer firefighters and emergency medical services 
personnel; and 

WHEREAS, the Council seeks to amend its code by creating a new section, § 27-153, to 
establish a personal property tax exemption for eligible volunteer firefighters and emergency 
medical services personnel, thereby recognizing their contributions and providing them with 
financial relief; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Franklin, Virginia: 

§ 27-153 Classification for taxation of one motor vehicle owned or leased by volunteer fire 
department member or emergency medical services personnel. 

[Added __-__-2024 by Ord. No. 2024-__] 

(a) One motor vehicle owned and regularly used by a volunteer fire department member or 
a person who meets the definition of “emergency medical services personnel” in § 32.1-111.1 
(collectively “volunteer emergency responder” or “volunteer”) is declared to be a separate class of 
property and shall constitute a classification for local taxation separate from other classifications 
of tangible personal property in this Chapter 27. To qualify for this classification, the volunteer 
shall:  

(1) provide proof that he is the owner or lessor of the motor vehicle, and if a lessor of the 
vehicle, that the volunteer is obligated by the terms of the lease to pay tangible personal property 
tax on the motor vehicle;  

https://ecode360.com/28933314#41910371
https://ecode360.com/28933314#41910371


Ordinance 2024-15 
 

(2) furnish the commissioner of revenue with a certification by the chief or head of the 
volunteer organization, that the volunteer is an individual who meets the definition of “emergency 
medical services personnel” in § 32.1-111.1 or is a member of a volunteer fire department who 
regularly responds to calls or regularly performs other duties for the volunteer organization; and 

(3) specifically identify the motor vehicle owned or leased by the volunteer. 

(b) The certification shall be submitted by January 31 of each year to the commissioner of 
revenue; however, the commissioner of revenue shall be authorized, in his discretion, and for good 
cause shown and without fault on the part of the member, to accept a certification after the January 
31 deadline. A replacement vehicle may be certified and classified pursuant to this subsection 
when the vehicle certified as of the immediately prior January date is transferred during the tax 
year. 

(c) The tax rate for such motor vehicles shall be set as part of the city’s adoption of its 
budget and setting of its annual tax rates. 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED AND ENACTED, that this ordinance shall become 
effective on ____________. 

 

Certified copy of the ordinance adopted by the Franklin City Council at its regular meeting 
held on _________ __, 2024.  

VOTE: 
 
Ayes:   
  
Nays:   
  
Abstentions:   
  
Absent for vote:   

 
 
ADOPTED:  
 
      __________________________________ 
      Robert Cutchins, Mayor 
 
CERTIFIED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kimberly Turner, Deputy Clerk 





RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND AWARD OF A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION NOTE, SERIES 2024 OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, 

VIRGINIA AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS AND PAYMENT 
THEREOF 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council (the “City Council”) of the City of Franklin, Virginia (the 

“City”) wishes to provide interim financing for the construction, renovation and improvement of 
City courts facilities, City and community facilities at the former National Guard armory facility 
and a City public safety radio system project, along with other capital needs of the City (the 
“Projects”) and to pay the costs of issuance therefor; and 

WHEREAS, Davenport & Company LLC, the City's financial advisor (the “Financial 
Advisor”), as directed by City staff, and its bond counsel, Sands Anderson PC, have prepared a 
Request for Proposals (the “RFP”) to obtain financing proposals for the interim financing of the 
Projects; 

WHEREAS, the Financial Advisor has received responses to the RFP that reflect attractive 
terms for the financing of the Projects and after reviewing the responses has recommended that 
the City Council select the proposal to purchase the City’s maximum aggregate principal amount 
not to exceed $8,300,000 General Obligation Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024 (the “Note”) 
to finance the Projects in accordance with the proposal dated October 3, 2024 (the “Proposal”) 
from Webster Bank, National Association (the “Lender”) whose approval shall be evidenced 
conclusively by the execution and delivery of such Proposal, and the City Council desires to accept 
such Proposal and proceed with the financing reflected therein; 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing, duly noticed, on December 9, 2024 
on the issuance of up to $8,300,000 general obligation notes or bonds of the City in accordance 
with Section 15.2-2606 of the Public Finance Act of 1991 (the “Act”) of the Code of Virginia of 
1950, as amended; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FRANKLIN: 

1. Issuance of Note.  Pursuant to the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth 
of Virginia, including the Act, the City Council hereby authorizes the issuance and sale of 
general obligation notes or bonds of the City to provide funds for interim financing for the 
Projects, and to pay related issuance and financing costs incurred in connection with issuing 
such Note.  The City elects to issue the Note pursuant to the Act without regard to any separate 
requirements of the City Charter. 

2. Note Details.  The Note shall be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to 
exceed $8,300,000 consisting of a single, registered bond or note designated “General 
Obligation Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024” numbered N-1, bearing an interest rate not to 
exceed 3.60% per annum, and maturing no later than December 31, 2027.  Subject to the 
preceding terms, the City Council further authorizes the Financial Advisor to determine the 
aggregate total of principal and interest payments on the Note, establish an amortization 
schedule for the Note, all in accordance with the provisions hereof. 



2 

3. Payment and Redemption Provisions.  The principal of and premium, if any, and 
interest on the Note shall be payable as set forth in the Note.  The principal of the Note shall be 
subject to optional prepayment or redemption, in whole or in part, by the City, as set forth in the 
Proposal, provided, that the Note may be prepaid, in whole only, at any time after October 31, 
2026 with no prepayment penalty. 

4. Execution and Form of Note.  The Note shall be substantially in the form of 
Exhibit A attached hereto, shall be signed by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City and the City’s 
seal shall be affixed thereon and attested by the City Clerk.  The Note shall be issued as a 
typewritten bond or note with such completions, omissions, insertions and changes not 
inconsistent with this Resolution as may be approved by such officers, whose approval shall be 
evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of the Note. 

5. Pledge of Full Faith and Credit.  The City’s full faith and credit are pledged to 
secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Note.  Unless other 
funds are lawfully available and appropriated for timely payment of the Note, the City agrees to 
levy and collect an annual tax upon all property subject to local taxation in the City sufficient to 
pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Note. 

6. Preparation of Printed Note.  The City shall initially issue the Note in typewritten 
form.  Upon request of the registered owner and upon presentation of the Note at the office of 
the Registrar (as hereinafter defined), the City shall arrange to have prepared, executed and 
delivered in exchange as soon as practicable the Note in printed form in an aggregate principal 
amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Note in typewritten form, in denominations of 
$5,000 and multiples thereof (except that one Note may be issued in an odd denomination of 
not less than $5,000), of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested 
by the registered owners or their duly authorized attorneys or legal representatives.  The printed 
Note may be executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City, 
the City’s seal affixed thereto and attested by the City Clerk; provided, however, that if both 
such signatures are facsimiles, no Note shall be valid until it has been authenticated by the 
manual signature of the Registrar and the date of authentication noted thereon.  The typewritten 
Note surrendered in any such exchange shall be canceled. 

7. Registration and Transfer of the Note.  The City appoints the City Treasurer as 
paying agent and registrar (the “Registrar”) for the Note.  Upon surrender of the Note at the 
office of the Registrar, together with an assignment duly executed by the registered owner or its 
duly authorized attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be satisfactory to the 
Registrar, the City shall execute, and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange, a 
new Note or Notes having an equal aggregate principal amount, of the same form and maturity, 
bearing interest at the same rates and registered in such name as requested by the then registered 
owner or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  Any such exchange shall be at the 
expense of the City, except that the Registrar may charge the person requesting such exchange 
the amount of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect thereto. 

The Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person or entity exclusively entitled to 
payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest, and the exercise of all other rights and 
powers of the owner, except that installments shall be paid to the person or entity shown as 



3 

owner on the registration books on the 1st day of the month on which an interest payment date 
occurs. 

8. Mutilated, Lost or Destroyed Note.  If the Note has been mutilated, lost or 
destroyed, the City shall execute and deliver a new Note of like date and tenor in exchange and 
substitution for, and upon cancellation of, such mutilated Note or in lieu of and in substitution 
for such lost or destroyed Note; provided, however, that the City shall so execute and deliver 
only if the registered owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the City in 
connection therewith and, in the case of a lost or destroyed Note, (a) has filed with the City 
evidence satisfactory to the City that such Note was lost or destroyed and (b) has furnished to 
the City satisfactory indemnity. 

9. Arbitrage Covenants.  The City covenants that it shall not take or omit to take any 
action the taking or omission of which will cause the Note to be “arbitrage bonds” within the 
meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations 
issued pursuant thereto (the “Code”), or otherwise cause interest on the Note to be includable 
in the gross income for Federal income tax purposes of the registered owner thereof under 
existing law.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City shall comply with any 
provision of the Tax Compliance Agreement (as defined below) that may require the City at any 
time to rebate to the United States any part of the earnings derived from the investment of the 
gross proceeds of the Note, unless the City receives an opinion of nationally recognized bond 
counsel that such compliance is not required to prevent interest on the Note from being included 
in the gross income for federal income tax purposes of the registered owners thereof under 
existing law.  The City shall pay any such required rebate from legally available funds. 

10. Tax Compliance Agreement.  Such officers of the City as may be requested by 
the City’s bond counsel are authorized and directed to execute and deliver a nonarbitrage 
certificate and tax compliance agreement in relation to the Note (the “Tax Compliance 
Agreement”) in the form approved by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City or the City 
Manager, or any of them, in collaboration with the City’s bond counsel, with such completions, 
omissions, insertions and changes as may be approved by the officers of the City executing such 
Tax Compliance Agreement, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution 
and delivery thereof. 

11. Private Activity Bond Covenant.  The City covenants that it shall not permit the 
proceeds of the Note or the property financed thereby to be used in any manner that would result 
in (a) 5% or more of such proceeds or the facilities financed with such proceeds being used in a 
trade or business carried on by any person other than a governmental unit, as provided in Section 
141(b) of the Code, (b) 5% or more of such proceeds or the facilities financed with such proceeds 
being used with respect to any output facility (other than a facility for the furnishing of water), 
within the meaning of Section 141(b)(4) of the Code, or (c) 5% or more of such proceeds being 
used directly or indirectly to make or finance loans to any persons other than a governmental 
unit, as provided in Section 141(c) of the Code; provided, however, that if the City receives an 
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that any such covenants need not be complied 
with to prevent the interest on the Note from being includable in the gross income for federal 
income tax purposes of the registered owners thereof under existing law, the City need not 
comply with such covenants. 



4 

12. Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.  The City Council hereby designates the Note 
as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” as defined in Section 265(b)(3)(B) of the Code and 
certifies by this Resolution that it does not reasonably anticipate the issuance by it or its 
subordinate entities of more than $10 million in “qualified tax-exempt obligations” during the 
calendar year 2024 and will not designate, or permit the designation by any of its subordinate 
entities of, any of its bonds (or those of its subordinate entities) during the calendar year 2024 
which would cause the $10 million limitation of Section 265(b)(3)(D) of the Code to be violated. 

13. SNAP Investment Authorization.  The City Council has determined to authorize 
the City Treasurer, if and as necessary, to utilize SNAP in connection with the investment of the 
proceeds of the Note. 

14. Bond Counsel. The City Council hereby confirms the appointment of Sands 
Anderson PC to serve as Bond Counsel to the City in connection with the issuance of the Note.  

15. Other Actions.  All other actions of City officials in conformity with the purposes 
and intent of this Resolution and in furtherance of the issuance and sale of the Note and the 
interim financing of the Projects are ratified, approved and confirmed.  The City officials are 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver all agreements, certificates and other instruments 
considered necessary or desirable in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Note 
pursuant to this Resolution and the financing of the Projects including, but not limited to a loan 
agreement, note purchase agreement, escrow agreement and any other agreements. 

16.  Effectiveness and Filing of Resolution.  This Resolution shall become effective 
immediately upon its passage.  After such passage, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be 
filed by the Clerk with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County of Southampton, Virginia.  
The filing of this Resolution with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County of Southampton, 
Virginia shall be deemed to be the filing of an initial resolution or ordinance with such Court 
for all purposes of the Act.  Any ordinances or resolutions inconsistent herewith previously 
adopted by the City Council are amended to be consistent with this Resolution. 

*********** 



5 

 On motion of ____________, seconded by ____________, the foregoing Resolution was 
adopted at a regular meeting of City Council on December 9, 2024.  Members of the City Council 
voted as follows: 
 
 

YES NO 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
ABSTAINED ABSENT 
  

  
 
Adopted this 9th day of December, 2024. 
 
 The undersigned City Clerk of the City Council of the City of Franklin, Virginia, hereby 
certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of an Resolution adopted at a meeting 
of the City Council of the City of Franklin, held on December 9, 2024. I hereby further certify that 
such a meeting was a regular meeting, duly called and held, and that during the consideration of 
the foregoing Resolution, a quorum was present.  
 
 
 
     __________________________________ 
     City Clerk, City Council of the 
     City of Franklin, Virginia 



1 
 

CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA  
$8,300,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE 

SERIES 2024  
 

NOTE PURCHASE AND LOAN AGREEMENT 

December __, 2024 

City of Franklin, Virginia 
207 W. 2nd Avenue 
Franklin, Virginia 23851 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Webster Bank, National Association (the “Lender”) offers to enter into this agreement 
(this “Note Purchase and Loan Agreement”) with the City of Franklin, Virginia (the “City”), 
providing for the sale by the City and the purchase by the Lender of the City’s General Obligation 
Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024 in the principal amount of $8,300,000 (the “Note”).  
Acceptance of this offer shall be evidenced by the execution and delivery to the Lender of this 
Note Purchase and Loan Agreement by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of either of whom may act, on 
behalf of the City.  Upon such acceptance, this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement shall be in full 
force and effect in accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon the City and the Lender. 

1. Purpose of Financing and Security for Note.  The Note will be issued and secured under 
and pursuant to a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City (the “City Council”) on 
December 9, 2024 (the “Resolution”) and Chapter 26, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as 
amended (the “Act”), in order to provide, from proceeds of the Note, interim financing for the 
construction, renovation and improvement of City courts facilities, City and community facilities 
at the former National Guard armory facility and a City public safety radio system project, along 
with other capital needs of the City and related costs of issuance (the “Projects”) for the benefit 
of citizens of the City.  The Note shall be secured by the full faith and credit of the City.   

2. Purchase and Terms of The Note.  Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of 
the representations set forth herein, the Lender hereby agrees to loan monies to the City as 
evidenced by the Lender’s purchase of the Note from the City, and the City hereby agrees to sell 
to the Lender, the Note at the purchase price of 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Note (the “Purchase Price”).  The Note shall be as described in, and shall have the terms and 
conditions, including but not limited to the payment dates for interest, principal and redemption or 
prepayment provisions, set forth in the forms of Note attached as Exhibit A hereto and 
incorporated by this reference.  The principal of the Note shall bear interest at the rate of 3.60% 
per annum through the final maturity date of the Note, November 1, 2027.  The Note is being 
issued as a tax-exempt obligation under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”).  Interest on the Note shall be paid on the 1st day of each May and 
November, commencing May 1, 2025, through and including the final maturity date.  Principal 



2 
 

shall be due at as set forth in the Note and is subject to optional redemption as set forth below in 
Section 7 herein.  

3. Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City represents, warrants and agrees 
as follows: 

(a) the City is, and will be at Closing (as defined below), a municipal 
corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”) duly chartered by the 
General Assembly of the Commonwealth, with the power and authority (1) to issue, sell and 
deliver the Note to the Lender as provided herein and (2) to consummate all transactions 
contemplated by, and perform its obligations, under this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, the 
Note, the Resolution, and a Non-Arbitrage Certificate (the “Non-Arbitrage Certificate”) to be 
executed by the City. 

(b) as of the Closing, the City will have full power and authority to irrevocably 
pledge its full faith and credit to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 
the Note; 

(c) the adoption of the Resolution and the execution and delivery of this Note 
Purchase and Loan Agreement, the Note and the Non-Arbitrage Certificate (collectively, the 
“Documents”) and compliance with the provisions thereof, under the circumstances 
contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not (1) violate the Constitution or laws of the 
Commonwealth, including, without limitation, the charter of the City, as applicable, the Act or 
any other existing law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, or determination 
of any court, regulatory agency or other governmental unit by which the City is bound, or (2) 
conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any existing resolution, the 
Resolution, indenture of trust or mortgage, loan or credit agreement, or any other existing 
agreement or instrument to which the City is a party or by which the City may be bound; 

(d) The City has, and at the Closing Date will have, duly authorized all actions 
necessary or appropriate to be taken for the City to (1) enter into, execute and deliver this Note 
Purchase and Loan Agreement, (2) to issue, sell and secure the Note to the Lender as provided 
herein, and (3) to consummate and carry out the other transactions contemplated by the Resolution 
and this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement. 

(e) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in 
equity, before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, to the best knowledge of the 
City, threatened against the City, affecting the organization and existence of the City or the titles 
of its officers to their respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance 
or delivery of the Note or to pay the principal of and interest on the Note, or the pledge thereof, 
or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Note or this Note 
Purchase and Loan Agreement or contesting in any way the power of the City to issue the Note 
or to execute and deliver this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, nor, to the best knowledge of 
the City, is there any basis therefor. 

(f) No further consent, approval, authorization or order of any court or 
governmental agency or body not already obtained is required for the issuance, delivery or sale 



3 
 

of the Note or, as of the date hereof, the consummation of the other transactions effected or 
contemplated herein or hereby by the City. 

(g) The City is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable 
to it and is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, 
order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the 
City is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets are subject, which default 
would adversely affect the Note, and the execution and delivery by the City of the Note and the 
compliance with the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict with or result in the breach of 
or constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

(h) When delivered to and paid for by the Lender in accordance with the terms 
of this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, the Note will have been duly authorized, executed 
and issued. 

(i) No suit, action, proceeding or investigation is pending nor, to the knowledge 
of the City, threatened against or affecting any of the City’s properties, or against or affecting the 
City, before any court or governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or 
instrumentality which involves or would materially affect any of the transactions contemplated 
hereby or by the Documents, or which, if determined adversely, could have a material adverse 
effect on (i) the organization or existence of the City, (ii) the execution and delivery by the City 
of the Documents, (iii) the performance by the City of its obligations under the Documents, (iv) 
the validity or enforceability of the Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, (v) the 
title or authority of any City officials executing the Documents or other documents relating to the 
transactions contemplated thereby, (vi) any authority or proceeding relating to the execution and 
delivery of the Documents on behalf of the City. 

(j) the City hereby assures the Lender that no material deterioration exists in 
the financial condition of the City from that reported in fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

(k) The representations and agreements of the City herein will be true and 
correct in all material respects as of the Closing. 

 
4. Closing.  The delivery of the Note (the “Closing”) shall be at such place and time as may 

be agreed to by the City and the Lender (but in no event later than December __, 2024 unless 
otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties) (the “Closing Date”).  Upon delivery of the Note to 
the Lender, the Lender will cause payment to be made as directed by the City, in immediately 
available funds, the purchase price of the Note.  The purchase price of the Note will be applied by 
the City as set forth in a Closing Memorandum (the “Closing Memorandum”) prepared by the 
City's financial advisor, Davenport & Company LLC (the “Financial Advisor”) and approved by 
the City Manager, to pay certain costs of issuance of the Note and otherwise for payment of the 
costs of the Projects.  The Note shall be delivered on the Closing Date to the Richmond, Virginia, 
offices of Sands Anderson PC as bond counsel to the City (“Bond Counsel”) or such other place 
as to which the City and the Lender may agree in writing, and Bond Counsel shall forward the 
Note to the Lender.  



4 
 

5. Conditions to Closing.  The Lender’s obligations hereunder to purchase and pay for the 
Note shall be subject to the performance by the City of its obligations hereunder and by the City 
of its obligations under the applicable Documents at or prior to the Closing Date, and to the 
following additional conditions at the Closing Date:  

(a) Receipt by the Lender of the Note and this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement. 

(c) Receipt by the Lender of a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by 
the Mayor and the City Manager of the City, to the effect that (i) the 
representations and warranties of the City contained herein are true and 
correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as if made on the 
Closing Date, and (ii) the City has complied with all the agreements and 
satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied at or prior 
to the Closing Date. 

(d) Delivery to the Lender of an opinion of the City Attorney, dated the Closing 
Date, in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit B hereto.  

(e) Receipt by the Lender of the approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the 
Closing Date, subject to the usual qualifications, as to the validity and 
enforceability of the Note against the City and the tax-exempt status of 
interest thereon. 

The Lender reserves the right to waive any of the conditions to its obligations contained in 
this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement. 

If the City shall be unable to perform or fulfill the conditions to the Lender’s obligations 
hereunder, or if the Lender’s obligations hereunder shall be terminated for any reason permitted 
hereby, this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement shall terminate and neither the Lender nor the 
City shall be under further obligation hereunder. 

6. Fees and Expenses.  The City agrees to cause to be paid the fees and disbursements of the 
Financial Advisor, of Bond Counsel, and of the City Attorney and disbursements incurred in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Note to the Lender, in each case from the proceeds of 
the Note as set forth in the Closing Memorandum. 

7. Optional Redemption.   

 The Note may not be redeemed before November 1, 2026.  The Note is subject to redemption 
prior to its final maturity date, at the option of the City, in whole, on any payment date on or after 
November 1, 2026, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Bondholder, at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof, plus interest accrued to the redemption 
date. 
 

8. Representations of Lender.  The Lender represents and warrants that the purchase of the 
Note is for its individual account and not with a present view for distribution to other purchasers 
thereof; provided that the Lender intends to sell a 100% participation interest in the Note to an 



5 
 

affiliate on the date hereof at par.  The Lender is a national banking association authorized to do 
business in the Commonwealth.  The Lender represents and warrants that it is purchasing the Note 
at its sole risk based on its evaluation of the credit risks arising therefrom.   

9. Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given to the City or the Lender under 
this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement may be given by delivery of the same in writing (a) to the 
Franklin City Manager’s Office, 207 W. 2nd Avenue, Franklin, Virginia 23851 and (b) to the 
Lender, at Webster Bank, National Association, 360 Lexington Avenue, 5th Floor, New York, 
New York 10017 (Attn: Public Sector Finance).  Any party to this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement may designate additional or different addresses for notice or communications by notice 
given under this Section to the other party. 

10. Financial Statements.  The City shall furnish to the Lender, (a) annually during the term 
of the Note, with audited financial statements, including supporting schedules (the “Audit”) of 
the City as soon as available after the City’s acceptance thereof, but no later than 360 days after 
the end of the City’s fiscal year, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, and (b) 
such other financial information as the Lender may reasonably request.  Such Audit must be in a 
form and degree reasonably acceptable to the Lender and prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The requirement to provide the Audit to the Lender will be 
satisfied if and to the extent such information is electronically posted and publicly available on the 
City’s website or on the MSRB’s “EMMA” website, and the City provides electronic notice to the 
Lender with a link to such posting.  In the event that the Audit is not available within 360 days of 
fiscal year end, the City will furnish unaudited financial statements to the Lender in the manner 
described in this paragraph within such period, and will then supply the Audit immediately upon 
the availability thereof.  The electronic Audit or link may be sent to the following email address 
(or such other address as the Lender supplies to the City in writing):  
PublicFinance@WebsterBank.com. 

11. Miscellaneous.  This Note Purchase and Loan Agreement is made solely for the benefit of 
the City and the Lender (including their successors or assigns) and no other person shall acquire 
or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.  All the representations, warranties and agreements 
contained herein shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of (a) any 
investigations made by or on behalf of the Lender; (b) delivery of and payment for the Note 
hereunder; and (c) any termination of this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement.  Assignment and 
re-registration of the Note shall without further action be deemed to assign the Lender’s interest 
under this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement.  

12. Governing Law.  The construction and enforcement of this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, without regard for its 
conflicts of laws provisions. 

13. Execution in Counterparts.  This Note Purchase and Loan Agreement may be executed 
in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and 
the same instrument, and any of the parties hereto may execute this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement by signing any such counterpart. 



6 
 

14. Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Note Purchase and Loan 
Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall 
not affect any other provisions of this Note Purchase and Loan Agreement, and this Note Purchase 
and Loan Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provisions had 
not been contained herein. 

 

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 
  



7 
 

Very truly yours, 

WEBSTER BANK, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION 
 
By:_______________________________ 
 
Title:  Managing Director 

Confirmed and Accepted 
as of the date first above written: 

CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA 
 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
 
 

  



8 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF THE NOTE 

 
  



9 
 

EXHIBIT B 

OPINION OF CITY ATTORNEY 

 



1 
 

 
No. N-1 $8,300,000.00 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, CITY OF FRANKLIN 
 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE 
SERIES 2024 

 
Registered Holder: Webster Bank, National Association Dated: December __, 2024 
  
Interest Rate:  3.60% Maturity Date: November 1, 2027 
  

Principal Sum: Eight Million Three Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars 
 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the City of Franklin, Virginia 
(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “City”), a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, for value received hereby promises to pay to the registered holder 
(named above), or its assigns or legal representative (the “Holder”), on the Maturity Date 
(specified above), the Principal Sum, subject to prior redemption as described herein, and to pay 
interest on the unpaid principal balance of this Note from the date hereof until payment of the 
entire principal, at the annual Interest Rate stated above, payable in installments as set forth on the 
attached Schedule.  

 
 Both principal of and interest on this Note are payable in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for public and private debts. 
 

Interest is payable on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 
 
 Both principal of and interest on this Note are payable in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for public and private debts. 
 

Upon a Determination of Taxability (as defined below), the interest rate on this Note shall 
be automatically adjusted to the Taxable Rate (as defined below) from the Date of Taxability (as 
defined below).  For purposes of this Note, the following terms have the following meanings: 

"Date of Taxability" means the earliest date as of which interest on this Note shall have 
been determined to be includable in the gross income of the Holder pursuant to a Determination 
of Taxability. 

"Determination of Taxability" means and shall be deemed to have occurred on the first to 
occur of the following: 

(i) on that date when the City files any statement, supplemental 
statement or other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event 
of Taxability shall have in fact occurred; 



2 
 

(ii) on the date when the Holder notifies the City that it has received a 
written opinion by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing on the 
subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that an Event of Taxability 
(as defined below) has occurred unless, within 180 days after receipt by the City of 
such notification from such Holder, the City shall deliver to the Holder (A) a ruling 
or determination letter issued to or on behalf of the City by the Commissioner or 
any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other governmental official 
exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) or (B) a 
written opinion by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing on the 
subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that, after taking into 
consideration such facts as form the basis for the opinion that an Event of Taxability 
has occurred, an Event of Taxability shall not have occurred; 

(iii) on the date when the City shall be advised in writing by the 
Commissioner or any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other 
government official or agent exercising the same or a substantially similar function 
from time to time) that, based upon filings by the City, or upon any review or audit 
of the City or upon any other ground whatsoever, an Event of Taxability shall have 
occurred; or 

(iv) on that date when the City shall receive notice from the Holder that 
the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government official or agency exercising 
the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) has assessed as 
includable in the gross income of such Holder the interest on this Note due to the 
occurrence of an Event of Taxability; 

provided, however, no Determination of Taxability shall occur under subparagraph (iii) or (iv) 
above unless the City have been afforded the opportunity, at the sole expense of the City, to contest 
any such assessment, and, further, no Determination of Taxability shall occur until such contest, 
if made, has been finally determined; provided further, however, that upon demand from the 
Holder, the City shall immediately reimburse such Holder for any payments such Holder shall be 
obligated to make as a result of the Determination of Taxability during any such contest. 

"Event of Taxability" means the taking of any action by the City, or the failure to take any 
action by the City, or the making by the City of any misrepresentation herein or in any certificate 
required to be given in connection with the issuance, sale or delivery of this Note which has the 
effect of causing interest paid or payable on this Note to become includable, in whole or in part, 
in the gross income of the Holder for federal income tax purposes. 

 "Taxable Rate" means the interest rate per annum that shall provide the Holder with the 
same after-tax yield that the Holder would have otherwise received had the Determination of 
Taxability not occurred, taking into account the increased taxable income of the Holder as a result 
of such Determination of Taxability.  The Holder shall provide the City with a written statement 
explaining the calculation of the taxable rate, which statement shall, in the absence of manifest 
error, be conclusive and binding on the City. 
 
 It is hereby certified, recited and declared that all acts, conditions and things required to 
have happened, to exist and to have been performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Note 



3 
 

do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and due time, form and manner as 
required by law; that this Note does not exceed any constitutional, statutory or charter limitation 
of indebtedness; and that provision has been made for the payment of the principal of, and interest 
on, this Note, as provided in the Resolution (as defined below). 
 
 This Note is in an original principal amount of $8,300,000, and is issued under, pursuant 
to and in compliance with the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including 
Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, the same being the Public 
Finance Act, the City Charter of the City and the Resolution duly adopted by the City Council on 
December 9, 2024 (the “Resolution”).  
 
 This Note is transferable only upon the registration books kept at the office of the City 
Treasurer as Registrar (the “Registrar”) by the registered Holder hereof, or by such Holder’s duly 
authorized attorney, to (i) an affiliate of the registered Holder or (ii) banks, insurance companies 
or other financial institutions or their affiliates, upon surrender of this Note (together with a written 
instrument of transfer, satisfactory in form to the Registrar, duly executed by the registered Holder 
or such Holder’s authorized attorney, which may be the form endorsed hereon) and subject to the 
limitations and upon payment of the charges, if any, as provided in the Resolution, and thereupon 
a new Note, in the aggregate principal amount and  of the same series, interest rate and maturity 
as this Note, shall be issued in exchange therefor.  The City and the Registrar shall deem and treat 
the person in whose name this Note is registered as the absolute registered owner Holder hereof 
for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal hereof and interest due 
hereon and for all other purposes whatsoever. Nothing in this Note shall limit the right of the 
registered Holder or its assignees to sell or assign participation interests herein to one or more 
entities listed in (i) or (ii) above. 
 
 This Note may not be redeemed before November 1, 2026.  This Note is subject to optional 
redemption prior to the Maturity Date, at the option of the City, in whole only, on any interest 
payment date on or after November 1, 2026, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Holder, at 
a redemption price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount hereof, plus interest accrued 
to the redemption date. 
 
 Notice of redemption shall be sent in writing by the Registrar to the registered Holder of 
this Note at such registered Holder’s address as it appears on the registration books, provided that 
failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not affect the validity of any proceedings 
for the redemption of this Note with respect to which no such failure has occurred. 



4 
 

 
THIS NOTE IS A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE CITY, THE PAYMENT OF 
WHICH THE CITY’S FULL FAITH AND CREDIT ARE IRREVOCABLY 
PLEDGED.  THE CITY COUNCIL IS AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED TO LEVY 
AND COLLECT, ANNUALLY AT THE SAME TIME AND IN THE SAME 
MANNER AS OTHER TAXES OF THE CITY ARE ASSESSED, LEVIED AND 
COLLECTED, A TAX UPON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY WITHIN THE CITY, 
OVER AND ABOVE ALL OTHER TAXES AUTHORIZED OR LIMITED BY 
LAW AND WITHOUT LIMITATION AS TO RATE OR AMOUNT, SUFFICIENT 
TO PAY WHEN DUE THE PRINCIPAL OF AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, AND 
INTEREST ON THIS NOTE, TO THE EXTENT OTHER FUNDS OF THE CITY 
ARE NOT LAWFULLY AVAILABLE AND APPROPRIATED FOR SUCH 
PURPOSE. 

 
Reference is hereby made to the Resolution and to all of the provisions thereof to which 

any Holder of this Note by his acceptance hereof hereby assents, for definitions of terms; the 
description of and nature and extent of the security for this Note; the conditions upon which the 
Resolution may be amended or supplemented without the consent of the Holder of this Note and 
upon which it may be amended only with the consent of the Holder of this Note affected thereby; 
the rights and remedies of the Holder hereof with respect hereto; the rights, duties and obligations 
of the City; the provisions discharging the Resolution as to this Note and for the other terms and 
provisions of the Resolution. 
  



5 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Franklin, Virginia, by its City Council has caused 
this Note to be signed by the Mayor and attested by the Clerk of said City, by their manual or 
facsimile signatures, and its seal to be impressed or imprinted hereon, and this Note to be dated as 
set forth above. 
 
 

______________________________________ 
      Mayor, City of Franklin, Virginia 

(SEAL) 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
City of Franklin, Virginia 
 
 
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

 
This Note is the Note described in the within-mentioned Resolution. 

 
REGISTRAR 

 
 
    By:  ____________________________________ 
             Treasurer, City of Franklin, Virginia 
 
DATE OF AUTHENTICATION: 
 
December __, 2024 
 
 
 



6 
 

[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 
 
 For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Please insert social security number or other tax identification number of assignee:   
 

[___________________] 
 

 Name and address of assignee, including zip code:  _____________________ 
________________________________________________________________ the within-
mentioned Note and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints _________________ attorney-
in-fact, to transfer the same on the registration books thereof maintained in the office of the within-
mentioned Registrar with the full power of substitution in the premises. 
 
DATED:  ___________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
NOTE:  The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name of the registered holder 
that is written on the face of the within Note in every particular, without alteration or enlargement 
or any change whatsoever. 
 
     Signature Guaranteed 
 
 
      ___________________________________________ 
     NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a member 

firm of the New York Stock Exchange or a commercial 
bank or trust company. 

  



7 
 

SCHEDULE 
 

 





Agenda 
Franklin City Council 

December 9, 2024 

 
 
 
BUDGET AMENDMENT 2025-5 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA that the 
2024-2025 City Budget is hereby amended to: 
 

1. Recognize grant revenue from Franklin Southampton Charities for the Franklin Fire 
Department and Hunterdale Fire Department and to appropriate such revenue for  
use. 
 
  

 
 

2024-2025 AMENDED INCREASE
BUDGET BUDGET (DECREASE)

220 FOUNDATION GRANT FUND
REVENUE

220-3-18990-3001 Franklin/Southampton Charities -$                      10,000$           10,000.00$      
10,000.00$      

EXPENDITURES
220-4-32100-8117 Fire Prevention - Other Grants -                        5,000                5,000                 
220-4-91450-4009 Hunterdale Volunteer Fire Dept -$                      5,000$              5,000.00$         

10,000.00$      

 
 
 
 
Certified copy of resolution adopted by Franklin City Council 
 
 
                                                                                                    ______________________   
                                                                                                  Deputy Clerk to the City Council                                
      







Agenda 
Franklin City Council 

December 9, 2024 

 
 
 
BUDGET AMENDMENT 2025-6 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA that the 
2024-2025 City Budget is hereby amended to: 
 

1. Recognize grant revenue from the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education 
Act for the Franklin City Public School Board and to appropriate such revenue for 
use. 
 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
Certified copy of resolution adopted by Franklin City Council 
 
 
                                                                                                    ______________________   
                                                                                                     Deputy Clerk to the City Council                                
      

2024-2025  AMENDED INCREASE 
BUDGET BUDGET (DECREASE) 

220 FOUNDATION GRANT FUND 
REVENUE 

250-3-33010-0230 Carl Perkins Revenue   $54,644.41                        $54,920.79              276.38 
 

$        
 $       

EXPENDITURES 
250-4-60000-0009 Franklin City Public Schools -                                              274.38                    
  - $                         $                 $           

 $        

















Agenda 
Franklin City Council 

December 9, 2024 

 
 
 
BUDGET AMENDMENT 2025-7 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, VIRGINIA that the 
2024-2025 City Budget is hereby amended to: 
 

1. Recognize grant revenue from The Wallace Foundation for Franklin City Public 
School Board and to appropriate such revenue for use. 
 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
Certified copy of resolution adopted by Franklin City Council 
 
 
                                                                                                    ___________________________   
                                                                                                     Deputy Clerk to the City Council                                
      

2024-2025  AMENDED INCREASE 
BUDGET BUDGET (DECREASE) 

220 FOUNDATION GRANT FUND 
REVENUE 

20240281 The Wallace Foundation Grant - $                        50,000 $             50,000.00 $        
50,000.00 $        

EXPENDITURES 
20240281 Franklin City Public Schools -                           50,000                   50,000                    
  -                                 

50,000.00 $        



























 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE FRANKLIN CITY EMPLOYEE EMERGENCY 
FUND 

 
WHEREAS, the Franklin City Employee Emergency Fund was established to provide assistance 
to City employees and their immediate families; and 
 
WHEREAS, the rules and regulations governing the Fund were previously amended by City 
Council on October 13, 1969, August 11, 1975, and May 12, 1997; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that eligibility for assistance from the Fund should 
be limited to current employees of the City of Franklin and their immediate families; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Franklin, Virginia: 
 
1. Amendment to Eligibility: 
 
All references to former employees of the City of Franklin and their immediate families are 
hereby removed from the rules and regulations governing the Franklin City Employee 
Emergency Fund. 
 
2. Continuity of Rules: 
 
Except as amended herein, all other provisions of the Franklin City Emergency Fund’s rules and 
regulations shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
VOTE: 

 
Ayes:   
  
Nays:   
  
Abstentions:   
  
Absent for vote:   

 
ADOPTED:  
 
      __________________________________ 
      Robert Cutchins, Mayor 
CERTIFIED: 
 
____________________________ 
Kimberly Turner, Deputy Clerk 









 
Resolution 2024-26 

Resolution  
Honoring the Life and Legacy of Bishop Stephen D. Willis, Sr. 

 
WHEREAS, Bishop Stephen D. Willis, Sr. was a revered spiritual leader who dedicated 
his life to faith, service, and community engagement; and 
 
WHEREAS, he passed away peacefully on November 24, 2024, at the age of 90, 
surrounded by his beloved family and friends; and 
 
WHEREAS, throughout his life, Bishop Willis was known for his unwavering compassion 
and commitment to outreach ministry, positively impacting individuals from all walks of 
life; and 
 
WHEREAS, he was a passionate advocate for social justice, spiritual empowerment, and 
economic development, guiding many to achieve their full potential; and 
 
WHEREAS, Bishop Willis led his congregation with wise counsel, offering mentorship to 
young ministers and support to various local charities; and 
 
WHEREAS, he built a lasting legacy of love and faith through his marriage to Carolyn 
Williams, a partnership that inspired many and enriched the lives of their family and 
community; and 
 
WHEREAS, his dedication to uplifting the underserved and spreading messages of hope 
resonated deeply within the Hampton Roads community and beyond;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that we, the City Council of Franklin, Virginia, 
honor the life and legacy of Bishop Stephen D. Willis, Sr. for his profound impact on 
individuals and communities, and we commit to upholding his values of compassion, 
service, and empowerment; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that we extend our deepest condolences to his family and 
loved ones, recognizing the immense loss felt by all who were touched by his spirit; and  
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED that we celebrate his memory by continuing to strive for 
love, understanding, and service in our own lives, ensuring that his legacy lives on through 
our actions.  
 
Adopted this 9th day of December 2024. 
 
              
Attest:       Mayor, City Council 
 
      
Deputy Clerk, City Council 


	12-09-2024 Agenda
	11-25-2024 Work Session Meeting Minutes
	Call to order
	Presentation: RFP Results & Capital Planning Update
	Presentation: Approval Request for VMEA Battery Energy Storage System Agreement
	Discussion: Property Tax Exemption for Fire & EMS

	11-25-2024 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes
	Call to order
	Amendments to Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	Old/New Business
	City Manager’s Report
	Council/Staff Reports on Boards/Commissions

	Resolution Authorizing Series 2024 Note-revised (1)
	1. Issuance of Note.  Pursuant to the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including the Act, the City Council hereby authorizes the issuance and sale of general obligation notes or bonds of the City to provide funds for interim ...
	2. Note Details.  The Note shall be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $8,300,000 consisting of a single, registered bond or note designated “General Obligation Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024” numbered N-1, bearing an interest ...
	3. Payment and Redemption Provisions.  The principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Note shall be payable as set forth in the Note.  The principal of the Note shall be subject to optional prepayment or redemption, in whole or in part, by ...
	4. Execution and Form of Note.  The Note shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto, shall be signed by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City and the City’s seal shall be affixed thereon and attested by the City Clerk.  The Note sha...
	5. Pledge of Full Faith and Credit.  The City’s full faith and credit are pledged to secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Note.  Unless other funds are lawfully available and appropriated for timely payment of t...
	6. Preparation of Printed Note.  The City shall initially issue the Note in typewritten form.  Upon request of the registered owner and upon presentation of the Note at the office of the Registrar (as hereinafter defined), the City shall arrange to ha...
	7. Registration and Transfer of the Note.  The City appoints the City Treasurer as paying agent and registrar (the “Registrar”) for the Note.  Upon surrender of the Note at the office of the Registrar, together with an assignment duly executed by the ...
	8. Mutilated, Lost or Destroyed Note.  If the Note has been mutilated, lost or destroyed, the City shall execute and deliver a new Note of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon cancellation of, such mutilated Note or in lieu o...
	9. Arbitrage Covenants.  The City covenants that it shall not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of which will cause the Note to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amende...
	10. Tax Compliance Agreement.  Such officers of the City as may be requested by the City’s bond counsel are authorized and directed to execute and deliver a nonarbitrage certificate and tax compliance agreement in relation to the Note (the “Tax Compli...
	11. Private Activity Bond Covenant.  The City covenants that it shall not permit the proceeds of the Note or the property financed thereby to be used in any manner that would result in (a) 5% or more of such proceeds or the facilities financed with su...
	12. Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.  The City Council hereby designates the Note as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” as defined in Section 265(b)(3)(B) of the Code and certifies by this Resolution that it does not reasonably anticipate the issuanc...
	13. SNAP Investment Authorization.  The City Council has determined to authorize the City Treasurer, if and as necessary, to utilize SNAP in connection with the investment of the proceeds of the Note.
	14. Bond Counsel. The City Council hereby confirms the appointment of Sands Anderson PC to serve as Bond Counsel to the City in connection with the issuance of the Note.
	15. Other Actions.  All other actions of City officials in conformity with the purposes and intent of this Resolution and in furtherance of the issuance and sale of the Note and the interim financing of the Projects are ratified, approved and confirme...
	16.  Effectiveness and Filing of Resolution.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage.  After such passage, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be filed by the Clerk with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County o...

	Note Purchase and Loan Agreement-revised (1)
	Specimen Bond Anticipation Note-revised (1)
	UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
	GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE
	(i) on that date when the City files any statement, supplemental statement or other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event of Taxability shall have in fact occurred;
	(ii) on the date when the Holder notifies the City that it has received a written opinion by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing on the subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that an Event of Taxability (as defined b...
	(iii) on the date when the City shall be advised in writing by the Commissioner or any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other government official or agent exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) that, ba...
	(iv) on that date when the City shall receive notice from the Holder that the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government official or agency exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) has assessed as includable in...
	CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

	This Note is the Note described in the within-mentioned Resolution.
	REGISTRAR

	By:  ____________________________________
	Name and address of assignee, including zip code:  _____________________
	DATED:  ___________________________
	Signature Guaranteed

	Signed CMR Item 4A
	Fire and EMS Tax Ordinance Final Ordinance 2024-15 Formatted and Updated
	Signed CMR Item 4B
	Resolution Authorizing Series 2024 Note-revised (1)
	1. Issuance of Note.  Pursuant to the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including the Act, the City Council hereby authorizes the issuance and sale of general obligation notes or bonds of the City to provide funds for interim ...
	2. Note Details.  The Note shall be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $8,300,000 consisting of a single, registered bond or note designated “General Obligation Bond Anticipation Note, Series 2024” numbered N-1, bearing an interest ...
	3. Payment and Redemption Provisions.  The principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Note shall be payable as set forth in the Note.  The principal of the Note shall be subject to optional prepayment or redemption, in whole or in part, by ...
	4. Execution and Form of Note.  The Note shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto, shall be signed by the Mayor or Vice Mayor of the City and the City’s seal shall be affixed thereon and attested by the City Clerk.  The Note sha...
	5. Pledge of Full Faith and Credit.  The City’s full faith and credit are pledged to secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Note.  Unless other funds are lawfully available and appropriated for timely payment of t...
	6. Preparation of Printed Note.  The City shall initially issue the Note in typewritten form.  Upon request of the registered owner and upon presentation of the Note at the office of the Registrar (as hereinafter defined), the City shall arrange to ha...
	7. Registration and Transfer of the Note.  The City appoints the City Treasurer as paying agent and registrar (the “Registrar”) for the Note.  Upon surrender of the Note at the office of the Registrar, together with an assignment duly executed by the ...
	8. Mutilated, Lost or Destroyed Note.  If the Note has been mutilated, lost or destroyed, the City shall execute and deliver a new Note of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon cancellation of, such mutilated Note or in lieu o...
	9. Arbitrage Covenants.  The City covenants that it shall not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of which will cause the Note to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amende...
	10. Tax Compliance Agreement.  Such officers of the City as may be requested by the City’s bond counsel are authorized and directed to execute and deliver a nonarbitrage certificate and tax compliance agreement in relation to the Note (the “Tax Compli...
	11. Private Activity Bond Covenant.  The City covenants that it shall not permit the proceeds of the Note or the property financed thereby to be used in any manner that would result in (a) 5% or more of such proceeds or the facilities financed with su...
	12. Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.  The City Council hereby designates the Note as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” as defined in Section 265(b)(3)(B) of the Code and certifies by this Resolution that it does not reasonably anticipate the issuanc...
	13. SNAP Investment Authorization.  The City Council has determined to authorize the City Treasurer, if and as necessary, to utilize SNAP in connection with the investment of the proceeds of the Note.
	14. Bond Counsel. The City Council hereby confirms the appointment of Sands Anderson PC to serve as Bond Counsel to the City in connection with the issuance of the Note.
	15. Other Actions.  All other actions of City officials in conformity with the purposes and intent of this Resolution and in furtherance of the issuance and sale of the Note and the interim financing of the Projects are ratified, approved and confirme...
	16.  Effectiveness and Filing of Resolution.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage.  After such passage, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be filed by the Clerk with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County o...

	Note Purchase and Loan Agreement-revised (1)
	Specimen Bond Anticipation Note-revised (1)
	UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
	GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTE
	(i) on that date when the City files any statement, supplemental statement or other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event of Taxability shall have in fact occurred;
	(ii) on the date when the Holder notifies the City that it has received a written opinion by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing on the subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that an Event of Taxability (as defined b...
	(iii) on the date when the City shall be advised in writing by the Commissioner or any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other government official or agent exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) that, ba...
	(iv) on that date when the City shall receive notice from the Holder that the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government official or agency exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) has assessed as includable in...
	CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

	This Note is the Note described in the within-mentioned Resolution.
	REGISTRAR

	By:  ____________________________________
	Name and address of assignee, including zip code:  _____________________
	DATED:  ___________________________
	Signature Guaranteed

	Signed CMR Item 4C
	BA Resolution 2025-5
	BA 2025-5 backup (2)
	Signed CMR Item 4D
	BA Resolution Perkins
	BA 2025-6 backup Perkins
	Signed CMR Item 4E
	BA Resolution Wallace Foundation
	BA 2025-7 backup Wallace
	Signed CMR Item 4F
	Franklin City Employee Emergency Fund Revision Resolution 2024-26 Formatted and Updated
	Resolution Employee Emergency Fund
	Signed CMR Item 4G
	Resolution Honoring the Life and Legacy of Bishop Stephen D Willis Sr  2024-26Formatted and Updated

